
 
  

CITY OF LAWNDALE 
14717 Burin Avenue, Lawndale, California 90260 

Phone (310) 973-3200 – www.lawndalecity.org 
 

AGENDA 
LAWNDALE CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING 

Monday, October 4, 2021 - 6:30 p.m. 
Lawndale City Hall Council Chamber 

14717 Burin Avenue 
 

Any person who wishes to address the City Council regarding any item listed on this agenda or any other 
matter that is within its subject matter jurisdiction is invited, but not required, to fill out a Public Meeting 
Speaker Card and submit it to the City Clerk prior to the oral communications portion of the meeting.  The 
purpose of the card is to ensure that speakers' names are correctly recorded in the meeting minutes and, 
where appropriate, to provide contact information for later staff follow-up.  You are still eligible to submit 
comment via the Temporary eComment Policy for Public Meetings, the comments will be read verbatim 
into the record. 

 
How to observe the Meeting: 
To maximize public safety while still maintaining transparency and public access, members of the public can now observe the 
meeting in person, with limited capacity, while strictly adhering to the City Facilities Entry Protocols.  Members of the public 
are still be able to view the meeting on YouTube “Lawndale CityTV”, the City Website, or Lawndale Community Cable 
Television on Spectrum & Frontier Channel 3. 
 
Copies of this Agenda may be obtained prior to the meeting in the Lawndale City Hall foyer.  Copies of this Agenda packet may 
be obtained prior to the meeting outside of the Lawndale City Hall foyer or on the City Website.  Interested parties may contact 
the City Clerk Department at (310) 973-3213 for clarification regarding individual agenda items. 
 

This Agenda is subject to revision up to 72 hours before the meeting. 
 
A. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL 

 
B. CEREMONIALS (Flag Salute and Inspiration) 

 
C. PRESENTATION 

 
1. Dr. Stephen Nellman, Centinela Valley Union High School District Superintendent 
 

D. PUBLIC SAFETY REPORT 
 

E. ORAL COMMUNICATIONS - ITEMS NOT ON THE AGENDA (Public Comments) 
 

F. COMMENTS FROM COUNCIL 
 

G. CONSENT CALENDAR 
 
Items 2 through 4, will be considered and acted upon under one motion unless a City Councilmember 
removes individual items for further City Council consideration or explanation. 

  

https://www.lawndalecity.org/UserFiles/Servers/Server_16676053/File/Government/City%20Council/All%20Speaker%20Card%20(Rev.%2002-20).pdf
https://www.lawndalecity.org/UserFiles/Servers/Server_16676053/File/Government/City%20Council/All%20Speaker%20Card%20(Rev.%2002-20).pdf
https://www.lawndalecity.org/UserFiles/Servers/Server_16676053/File/Government/Departments/City%20Clerk's%20Office/Agendas%20and%20Minutes/City%20of%20Lawndale%20-%20eComment%20Policy.pdf
https://www.lawndalecity.org/UserFiles/Servers/Server_16676053/File/COVID-19/COVID-19%20%20Reopening202105_Final.pdf
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCfzabQru02YprD2xs5FC2Ow
http://192.168.10.14/CablecastPublicSite/watch/1?channel=3
https://www.lawndalecity.org/cms/one.aspx?pageId=17106541


Agenda 
City Council Regular Meeting 
October 4, 2021 
Page 2 
 
 

 

2. Updating City Council Policy No. 77-04 (Records and Information Management),  
Adding Records Series and Schedule Updates 
Recommendation: that the City Council adopt Resolution No. CC-2110-041, Updating 
City Council Policy No. 77-04 (Records and Information Management), Adding Records 
Series and Schedule Updates. 
 

3. Accounts Payable Register 
Recommendation: that the City Council adopt Resolution No. CC-2110-040, authorizing 
the payment of certain claims and demands in the amount of $273,391.21. 

 
4. Minutes of the Lawndale City Council Regular Meeting – September 20, 2021 

Recommendation: that the City Council approve. 
 

H. ADMINISTRATION 
 
5. Purchasing Policy Discussion 

Recommendation: that the City Council provide direction to staff as necessary. 
 
6. Parks, Recreation and Social Services Street Pole Banner Project  

Recommendation: that the City Council receive and file this report. 
 

I. PUBLIC HEARING 
 
7. Appeal Request (Case No. 21-25 Appealing the Planning Commission's Decision to  

Deny Case No. 20-17 for the Development of a New 7,779 Square Foot Express  
Carwash Facility on a GC (General Commercial) Zoned Property Located at 15413-
15425 Hawthorne Boulevard 
Recommendation: that the City Council (a) conduct a public hearing; (b) adopt the 
findings of fact and determinations relative to the submitted application; and (c) adopt 
Resolution No. CC-2110-042, denying the Special Use Permit and Development Permit. 
 

J. CITY MANAGER'S REPORT 
 

K. ITEMS FROM CITY COUNCILMEMBERS 
 

8. Mayor/City Councilmembers Report of Attendance at Meetings and/or Events 
 
L. ADJOURNMENT 

 
The next regularly scheduled meeting of the City Council will be held at 6:30 p.m. on Monday, 
October 18, 2021 in the Lawndale City Hall council chamber, 14717 Burin Avenue, Lawndale, 
California. 
 

It is the intention of the City of Lawndale to comply with the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) in 
all respects.  If, as an attendee or a participant at this meeting, you will need special assistance beyond 
what is normally provided, we will attempt to accommodate you in every reasonable manner.  Please 
contact the City Clerk Department (310) 973-3213 prior to the meeting to inform us of your particular 



Agenda 
City Council Regular Meeting 
October 4, 2021 
Page 3 
 
 

 

needs and to determine if accommodation is feasible.  Please advise us at that time if you will need 
accommodations to attend or participate in meetings on a regular basis. 
 

I hereby certify under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the Agenda 
for the regular meeting of the City Council to be held on October 4, 2021 was posted not less than 
72 hours prior to the meeting. 

 
 
       _________________________________ 
       Matthew Ceballos, Assistant City Clerk 



1



2



























3













MINUTES OF THE 
LAWNDALE CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING 

    September 20, 2021 

A. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL

Mayor Pullen-Miles called the meeting to order at 6:30 p.m. in the City Hall council chamber,
14717 Burin Avenue, Lawndale, California.

Councilmembers Present:  Mayor Robert Pullen-Miles, Mayor Pro Tem Pat Kearney,
Councilmember Bernadette Suarez, Councilmember Rhonda 
Hofmann Gorman, Councilmember Sirley Cuevas 

Other Participants: City Manager Kevin M. Chun, City Attorney Gregory M. Murphy, 
Los Angeles County Sheriff's Department Captain Duane Allen, 
Community Services Director Mike Estes, Assistant to the City 
Manager/Human Resources Director Raylette Felton, Municipal 
Services Director Michael Reyes, Community Development 
Director Sean Moore, Assistant City Clerk Matthew Ceballos, 
Public Works Director Julian Lee 

B. CEREMONIALS

Councilmember Bernadette Suarez led the flag salute and Pastor George Magdalany, Hope
Chapel Hawthorne, provided the inspiration.

C. PUBLIC SAFETY REPORT

Los Angeles County Sheriff's Department Captain Duane Allen summarized the recent law
enforcement activities.

D. ORAL COMMUNICATIONS - ITEMS NOT ON THE AGENDA

Griselda Sanchez, Community Outreach Coordinator for Fame Assistance Corporation, spoke
about the danger of second hand tobacco smoke in multi–family housing.

Yesika Hernandez, Resident, spoke about the effect of tobacco smoke in her residence.

Ricardo Torres, Tobacco Program Director of Fame Assistance Corporation, spoke about tobacco
smoke in multi-family housing.

E. COMMENTS FROM COUNCIL

Councilmember Bernadette Suarez requested staff to estimate the cost for a voter survey on a
ballot regarding smoking in multi-family housing

The City Council responded generally to the comments.

4



Minutes-City Council Regular Meeting 
September 20, 2021 
Page 2 
 
 
F. CONSENT CALENDAR  
 

1. Beautification Committee Appointment 
Recommendation: that the City Council (a) approve the Mayor’s appointment by 
directing staff to insert the appointee’s names in Section 1 of Resolution No. CC-2109-
039; and (b) the City Council adopt the Resolution as amended. 

 
2. Accounts Payable Register 

Recommendation: that the City Council adopt Resolution No. CC-2109-038, authorizing 
the payment of certain claims and demands in the amount of $266,618.60. 

 
3. Minutes of the Lawndale City Council Regular Meeting – September 7, 2021 

Recommendation: that the City Council approve. 
  

A motion by Mayor Pro Tem Kearney to approve the consent calendar was seconded by 
Councilmember Bernadette Suarez and carried by a vote of 5-0. 
 

G. ADMINISTRATION 
 
4. Award of Contract for 2021 Pavement Management System to Bucknam   

Infrastructure Group, Inc. for a Total Not-to-Exceed Amount of $78,996 
Recommendation: that the City Council (a) accept a proposal dated August 24, 2021 from 
Bucknam Infrastructure Group, Inc. for the preparation of the 2021 Pavement 
Management System; (b) award the contract to Bucknam Infrastructure Group, Inc. in the 
amount of $63,372 for the 2021 Pavement Management System; (c) approve the 
additional work for 2021 Pavement Management System to Bucknam Infrastructure 
Group, Inc. in the amount of $15,624; and (d) reject all other proposals received. 
 

Public Works Director Julian Lee provided a report on the Award of Contract for 2021 Pavement 
Management System to Bucknam Infrastructure Group, Inc. 
 
Peter Bucknam, Bucknam Infrastructure Group Project Manager, provided a PowerPoint 
presentation on the overview of the Pavement Management System. 
 
Councilmember Suarez requested staff to include the list of other proposals accepted on future 
staff reports.  
 
Mayor Pro Tem Pat Kearney inquired if the Pavement Management System process will overlap 
with the ADA transition plan. 
 
Public Works Director Julian Lee responded the City Council recently authorized a contract for 
ADA transition plan and Pavement Management System process covers the infrastructure of a 
sidewalk as a whole. 
 
A motion by Councilmember Cuevas to accept a proposal dated August 24, 2021 from 
Bucknam Infrastructure Group, Inc. for the preparation of the 2021 Pavement 
Management System, award the contract to Bucknam Infrastructure Group, Inc. in the 
amount of $63,372 for the 2021 Pavement Management System, approve the additional 



Minutes-City Council Regular Meeting 
September 20, 2021 
Page 3 
 
 

work for 2021 Pavement Management System to Bucknam Infrastructure Group, Inc. in 
the amount of $15,624 and reject all other proposals received, was seconded by 
Councilmember Suarez and carried by a vote of 5-0. 
 
5. City Council Subcommittee and Standing Committee Additions  

Recommendation: that the City Council review the proposed subcommittee & standing 
committee and direct staff on their appointment of members. 
 

A lengthy dialogue ensued between City Council and staff regarding the subcommittees & 
standing committees. 
 
City Council came to a unanimous consensus, without objection, to appoint Mayor Pullen- 
Miles and Councilmember Hofmann Gorman on the Caltrans Maintenance Standing 
Committee, Mayor Pullen-Miles and Councilmember Bernadette Suarez on the Teen 
Center Subcommittee. 
 

H. CITY MANAGER'S REPORT 
 
City Manager Kevin Chun provided a reminder to the community about the bulky item trash 
pick-up during regular trash collection days during the week of September 20, 2021. 
 

I. ITEMS FROM CITY COUNCILMEMBERS 
 

6. Mayor/City Councilmembers Report of Attendance at Meetings and/or Events 
 
Councilmember Suarez attended the 8th Annual Blues Festival and commended all staff for the 
hard work, she also attended California Contract Cities Association fall seminar, and took ethics 
training. Councilmember Suarez requested a City Council review of the Purchasing Policy and 
approval limit threshold be added to a future agenda. 
 
Councilmember Cuevas attended the 8th Annual Blues Festival and will be attending League of 
California Cities Annual Conference. 
 
Councilmember Hofmann Gorman attended the 8th Annual Blues Festival and enjoyed the car 
show, she also attended California Contract Cities Association fall seminar. Councilmember 
Hofmann Gorman added she’d like to work on the fireworks suppression plan this fall in 
preparation for next July and also to assemble a Neighborhood Watch program. 
  
Mayor Pro Tem Kearney attended Liability Trust and Oversight Committee and the 8th Annual 
Blues Festival. Mayor Pro Tem Kearney inquired if next year’s event can be a Music Festival 
covering a variety of music genres.  
 
Mayor Pullen-Miles attended the L.A. County Sanitation District meeting, the California 
Contract Cities Association fall seminar, and the ethics training, and also attended the 8th Annual 
Blues Festival. 

  



Minutes-City Council Regular Meeting 
September 20, 2021 
Page 4 
 
 
J. ADJOURNMENT 

 
There being no further business to conduct, the Mayor adjourned the meeting at 7:25 p.m.  

 
 
       _________________________________ 
       Robert Pullen-Miles, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Erica Harbison, City Clerk 
 
Approved: 10/04/2021 

 



5



6











DATE: 

TO: 

FROM: 

REVIEWED BY: 

PREPARED BY: 

SUBJECT: 

BACKGROUND 

CITY OF LAWNDALE 

14 717 BURIN A VENUE, LAWNDALE, CALIFORNIA 90260 
PHONE (310) 973-3200 + www.iawndalecity.org 

October 4, 2021 

Honorable Mayor and City Co
� 

Kevin M. Chun, City Managey
/} 

Sean M. Moore, AICP, Community Development Direct°Jf,1/

Rafael Garcia, Associate Planner �

Public Hearing for an Appeal Request (Case No. 21-25) Appealing the 
Planning Commission's Decision to Deny Case No. 20-17 for the 
Development of a New 7,779 Square Foot Express Carwash Facility on a GC 
(General Commercial) Zoned Property Located at 15413-15425 Hawthorne 
Boulevard 

At its meeting of July 28, 2021, the Planning Commission adopted Resolution No. 20-15 (Attachment 
"D") denying Case No. 20-17, requesting approval of a Special Use Permit and Development Pe1mit to 
construct a 7,779 square foot, single story express car wash facility. The proposed car wash included an 
express car wash tunnel, three lanes for vehicle queuing, 35 parking stalls, vacuums, and a wide variety 
of landscaping throughout. The project was to be located at 15413-15425 Hawthorne Boulevard within 
the GC (General Commercial) zone (the "Project"). 

Fourteen days after the Planning Commission's decision, on August 11, 2021, the applicant, Timothy 
Berger, filed a timely appeal of the Planning Commission's decision (Attachment "E"). The Appellant's 
grounds for filing the appeal are that the project is compatible and consistent with the findings that are 
required to be made. Accordingly, pursuant to Section 17 .12.130 of the Lawndale Municipal Code 
(LMC) the City Clerk was required to, and did, agendize this hearing within 60 days of the filing of the 
appeal. 

Although the hearing before the City Council is part of an appeal process, it is a de novo hearing. This 
means the City Council reviews and makes a decision on the Project, as if no prior Planning Commission 
hearing had been held. All aspects of the Planning Commission's prior action, including the decision to 
deny the application, are reviewable by the City Council. Upon conclusion of the appeal hearing, and 
any continuances of the hearing, the City Council may affirm, reverse, or modify the Planning 
Commission's action. 

Page 1 of 16 
7











































































































































 
 
Resolution No. CC-2110-042 
Appeal of P.C. Case No. 20-17 

1 

RESOLUTION NO. CC-2110-042 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
LAWNDALE, CALIFORNIA, SETTING FORTH FINDINGS 
OF FACT AND DETERMINATIONS RELATIVE TO CASE 
NO. 21-25:  SPECIAL USE PERMIT AND DEVELOPMENT 
PERMIT REQUESTING TO DEVELOP AN EXPRESS 
CARWASH FACILITY ON A GC (GENERAL 
COMMERCIAL) ZONED LOT LOCATED AT 15413-15425 
HAWTHORNE BOULEVARD  

 
WHEREAS, an application was filed by Timothy E. Berger (“Applicant”) seeking approval of a 

Special Use Permit and Development Permit (collectively, “Case No. 20-17”) for the construction and 
development of a single story 7,779 square foot express carwash facility (“Project”), located at 15413-
15425 Hawthorne Boulevard (“Subject Property”); and 
 

WHEREAS, the Property is zoned GC (General Commercial) and is designated as “Commercial” 
in the City’s General Plan and located within the Hawthorne Boulevard Specific Plan area; and 

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to Lawndale Municipal Code (“LMC”) Section 17.28.020, the approval of 

a Special Use Permit (“SUP”) is required for the construction of any carwash facility in any commercial 
zone; and  
 

WHEREAS, the Project will be required to be developed in accordance with the standards set 
forth in the Lawndale Municipal Code (“LMC”) and subject to the conditions deemed appropriate by the 
City Council as set forth herein; and 

 
WHEREAS, the HBSP requires approval of a Development Permit for the construction of any 

new building per Table 2-1 (Revised June, 2001), “Applicability of Development Permit,” of the 
Hawthorne Boulevard Specific Plan; and 

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to Section C of Chapter 6 of the HBSP, when a project is subject to both 

a Development Permit and a SUP, both permits will be processed concurrently; and 
 
WHEREAS, the HBSP and LMC Section 17.56.280 provides requirements for carwashes in 

commercial zones; and 
 

WHEREAS, after conducting a public hearing and considering all evidence, the Planning 
Commission adopted Resolution No. 20-15 on July 28, 2021, denying Case No. 20-17; and 

 
WHEREAS, on August 11, 2021, a request for appeal (Case No. 21-25) was timely submitted to 

the City Clerk, appealing the decision of the Planning Commission to deny Case No. 20-17 (“Appeal”); 
and 

 
WHEREAS, Lawndale Municipal Code section 17.12.140, entitled “Appeal hearings,” provides 

that “[a]t all appeal hearings, the city council shall decide the matter de novo as if no prior planning 
commission hearing had been held[;]”; and 



 
 
Resolution No. CC-2110-042 
Appeal of P.C. Case No. 20-17 

2 

 
WHEREAS, on October 4, 2021, the City Council conducted a public hearing on the Appeal, 

which public hearing was duly and properly noticed; and  
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LAWNDALE, CALIFORNIA, 
DOES HEREBY RESOLVE AS FOLLOWS: 
 

SECTION 1.  The City Council finds and determines that the foregoing recitals are true and 
correct and incorporated herein by reference. 

SECTION 2.  The facts set forth in the Staff Report are true and correct.   
 

SECTION 3. Pursuant to the special use permit requirements in LMC §17.28.014, the City 
Council has analyzed the findings that each must be made before the granting of the special use permit, 
and finds as follows: 
 

Special Use Permit (pursuant to LMC Section 17.28.014):  
A. The granting of a Special Use Permit will not be detrimental to the public health or 

welfare or injurious to the property or improvements in such zone or vicinity.   
 
Finding cannot be made.  The State has identified the existence of a housing crisis within 
California and has recently enacted new housing legislation that identifies the existence 
of a housing crisis and attempts to combat issues pertaining to housing access and 
affordability.  This includes the adoption of SB 330 (Housing Crisis Act of 2019), AB 
1763 (Planning and zoning: density bonuses: affordable housing), AB 1485 (Housing 
development: streamlining), AB 101 (Housing Development and Financing), AB 68 
(Land use: accessory dwelling units), SB 13 (Accessory dwelling units), AB 671 
(Accessory dwelling units: incentives), AB 2753 (Density bonuses: density bonus 
application), AB 3194 (Housing Accountability Act: project approval), SB 828 (Land use: 
housing element), SB 35 (Streamline Approval Process), AB 72 (Enforce Housing 
Element Law), AB 1397 (Adequate Housing Element Sites) and SB 166 (No Net Loss).   
The City has experienced the effects of this housing crisis and due to its unique situation 
as a smaller, urbanized City with limited vacant lands, has limited opportunity and vacant 
land to address the housing crisis.  Lawndale is an older urbanized City with limited 
development opportunities on vacant lands.  
 
The City’s existing opportunities to provide for housing have the capacity to yield only 
425 units.  However, the regional housing needs assessment (“RHNA”), which identifies 
the need for housing within each jurisdiction, identifies the upcoming need for the City to 
provide the capacity to yield 2,497 housing units.  The RHNA allocation increase in housing 
units for this sixth cycle is more than six-times greater in comparison to the previous cycle.  The 
City’s vacant sites do not have the capacity to meet the City’s current and upcoming share 
(i.e. 2,497 housing units for the sixth cycle allocation) of the regional housing need and 
the City must rely on recycling of current underutilized properties for residential 
development.  Many of these sites are occupied by small businesses with large parking 
areas and are located along Hawthorne Boulevard.  The development of an express 
carwash on the subject site would preclude the site from accommodating any housing to meet 



 
 
Resolution No. CC-2110-042 
Appeal of P.C. Case No. 20-17 

3 

the future housing needs of the community and eliminate a site identified in the Housing 
Element’s Site Inventory of a site that is approximately 54,370 square feet in area and can 
accommodate up to 41 residential units at a density of 1 unit per 1,320 square feet, from 
potential housing development.  This project will also be located nearby an existing car wash.  
The City currently contains a total of four carwashes within the city’s boundaries.   
The proposed project is not consistent with this finding because the proposed project 
compromises overall public health and is injurious to achieving the required RHNA housing 
units and threatens the City’s ability to provide for the housing needs of its growing population, 
especially where the City does have additional capacity of developable land.  It is critical to 
maintain the sites identified as part of the Housing Element sites inventory in order to meet the 
future housing needs of the community and failure to do so threatens the City’s ability to 
address its housing needs and the existing housing crisis.  Developing the site with a carwash 
development would be inconsistent with this finding because it would remove the sites explicitly 
identified as part of the sites inventory list that are suitable for providing adequate housing to 
meet existing and future needs of the community.  
 

B. The use applied for at the location indicated is proper for an approved Special Use Permit.   
 
Finding can be made.  Carwashes are allowed in the GC zone with approval of a Special 
Use Permit.  The General Commercial zoning district is intended to provide a broad 
range of commercial activity including general retail, restaurants, service commercial, 
personal service, lodging and office uses.   
 

C. The site for the proposed use is adequate in size and shape to accommodate said use, and 
all yard, spaces, walls, fences, parking, loading, landscaping, and other features required 
to adjust said use with the land and uses in the neighborhood.   

 
Finding can be made.  The proposed carwash is located in the General Commercial 
zoning district which allows for a wide variety of commercial uses including carwashes 
with approval of a Special Use Permit. The site is 54,370 square feet in area and will 
comply with setbacks, provide walls, parking, queuing lanes and landscaping throughout. 
 

D. The site abuts streets and highways adequate in width and pavement type to carry the 
kind of traffic generated by the proposed use.   
 
Finding can be made.  The site abuts Hawthorne Boulevard along the east.  Hawthorne 
Boulevard is oriented in a north-south direction and contains six travel lanes, a center 
median area used for parking and some parallel parking opportunities along the 
sidewalks.  Hawthorne Boulevard serves as a primary transportation route, a corridor of 
economic activity and a community focal point for the City.  Hawthorne Boulevard will 
be able to adequately accommodate the traffic generated by the proposed use.  
 

E. The granting of such special use permit is consistent with the City's General Plan.   
 
Finding cannot be made.  The proposed use is not consistent the General Plan Land Use 
Element Policy 6.g, Goal 7 as well as Housing Element Goals 1 and 2.  
 



 
 
Resolution No. CC-2110-042 
Appeal of P.C. Case No. 20-17 

4 

Land Use Element 
 
Policy 6g:  The City shall protect, encourage and where feasible, provide housing 
opportunities for low and moderate income households, as well as for the homeless. 
 
The site has been identified as an underutilized site as part of the housing inventory of the City’s 
Housing Element (2013-2021).  The underutilized sites inventory identifies sites that are 
suitable for redevelopment into higher density residential uses.  Lawndale is an older urbanized 
City with limited development opportunities on vacant lands.  As such, the City has limited 
capacity to meet the City’s current (i.e. 381 housing units) and upcoming share (i.e. 2,497 
housing units) of the regional housing need and the City must rely on recycling of current 
underutilized properties for residential development.  The project is not consistent with this 
land use policy because it is proposing to develop the site as a carwash development which 
would preclude it from potentially providing future housing needs for low and moderate income 
households. 
 
Land Use Goal 7: Encourage the establishment of commercial development which 
contributes positively to the City image and identity as well as generates revenues and 
employment opportunities.  
 
Most of the revenue generated by carwashes is not taxable because it is a service based 
business operation.  The sale of services where no tangible personal property is 
transferred or where the transfer of property is incidental, are not subject to sales and 
use taxes in the State of California (California Department of Tax and Fee 
Administration, Publication 61, 2018).  The use provides no other tangible benefits to the 
community or surrounding residents while lacking compatibility to the surrounding land 
uses.  Furthermore, the express carwash is designed to operate in a largely automated 
format with few staff.  Very few, if any, employment opportunities will result from the 
approval of the project. 
 
Housing Element 
 
 The site has been identified as an underutilized site as part of the housing inventory of the 
City’s Housing Element (2013-2021).  The underutilized sites inventory identifies sites that are 
developed with existing commercial, manufacturing and/or residential uses that are suitable 
for redevelopment into higher density residential uses.  Lawndale is an older urbanized City 
with limited development opportunities on vacant lands.  As such, the City has limited capacity 
to meet the City’s current and upcoming share of the regional housing need and the City must 
rely on recycling of current underutilized properties for residential development.  Many of these 
sites are occupied by small businesses with large parking areas and are located along 
Hawthorne Boulevard.  Similarly, the existing site is improved with underutilized commercial 
buildings where an automotive use to be operated.  The project is not consistent with the 
following Housing Element Goals: 
 
Goal 1: Assist in the provision of adequate housing that meets the existing and future needs of 
the community.  Establish a balanced approach to meeting the housing needs of both renter- 
and owner-households.  



 
 
Resolution No. CC-2110-042 
Appeal of P.C. Case No. 20-17 

5 

 
The development of an express carwash on the subject site would preclude the site from 
accommodating any housing to meet the future housing needs of the community and is 
inconsistent with Goal 1’s purpose to provide for adequate housing that meets the existing and 
future needs of the community.  The site is approximately 54,370 square feet in area and can 
accommodate up to 41 residential units at a density of 1 unit per 1,320 square feet.  Developing 
the site with a carwash development would be inconsistent with the General Plan’s Housing 
Element because it would remove  sites explicitly identified as part of the sites inventory list 
that are suitable for providing adequate housing to meet existing and future needs of the 
community.  
 
Goal 2: Provide adequate housing sites through appropriate land use, zoning, and specific plan 
designations to accommodate the City’s Share of regional housing needs.  
 
The site has been identified as an underutilized site as part of the housing inventory of the City’s 
Housing Element (2013-2021).  The underutilized site is ideal for redevelopment into a higher 
density residential development.  Lawndale is an older urbanized City with limited development 
opportunities on vacant properties.  As such, the City has limited capacity to meet the City’s 
current and upcoming share of the regional housing need and the City must rely on recycling 
of current underutilized properties for residential development.  Developing the subject 
property as a carwash development would preclude the site from being utilized as a future 
housing site.    
 

SECTION 4. Pursuant to the Development Permit requirements in Chapter 6 of the Hawthorne 
Boulevard Specific Plan, the City Council has analyzed the findings that each must be made before the 
granting of the development permit, and finds as follows: 

 
1) The Project is consistent with the development stands and design guidelines of the 

Hawthorne Boulevard Specific Plan.   
 

Finding can be made.  The Project has met the development standards for setbacks, 
landscaping, lot coverage site configuration, and building requirements for the General 
Commercial zone, it has also satisfied the design guidelines by having a well-articulated 
mass and bulk, a significant amount of landscaping, and use of contemporary façade 
material types that provide texture to exterior walls.  The overall height of the project 
will also comply with the height requirements of the HBSP.   

 
2) The project will not interfere with the use and enjoyment of neighboring existing or future 

developments, and will not create traffic or pedestrian hazards.   
 

Finding can be made.  The proposed carwash is allowed with approval of a Special Use 
Permit.  The subject property is sufficient to accommodate the use of the facilities and 
will not negative impact the surrounding neighborhood.  The project is located on 
Hawthorne Boulevard, which is a major thoroughfare that can adequately accommodate 
the traffic generated by the project. 

 



 
 
Resolution No. CC-2110-042 
Appeal of P.C. Case No. 20-17 

6 

3) The Project maintains and enhances the attractive and orderly development contemplated 
by the Hawthorne Boulevard Specific Plan.   

 
Finding can be made.  The project meets all of the development standards and design 
guidelines.  The project improves the aesthetic appeal of Hawthorne Boulevard, because 
the existing buildings will be replaced with a new more attractive development.   The 
building is designed to have a contemporary aesthetic and its façade materials provide 
an improved exterior.  The project, as proposed, will comply with the Hawthorne 
Boulevard Specific Plan requirements for new developments.  

 
4) The Project provides a desirable environment for its occupants, community residents, and 

visiting public through good aesthetic use of materials, texture and color.   
 

Finding can be made.  The building is designed to have a contemporary modern 
architectural style and is enhanced with a well-articulated roof.  The façade will be 
improved with stucco and accented by cultured stone veneer.  These design features 
produce a better aesthetic in comparison to the existing buildings which exist on the site.   

 
5) The Project would not be detrimental to the public, health, safety, or welfare, or materially 

injurious to the properties or improvements in the vicinity. 
 
Finding cannot be made.  The State has identified the existence of a housing crisis within 
California and has recently enacted new housing legislation that identifies the existence 
of a housing crisis and attempts to combat issues pertaining to housing access and 
affordability.  This includes the adoption of SB 330 (Housing Crisis Act of 2019), AB 
1763 (Planning and zoning: density bonuses: affordable housing), AB 1485 (Housing 
development: streamlining), AB 101 (Housing Development and Financing), AB 68 
(Land use: accessory dwelling units), SB 13 (Accessory dwelling units), AB 671 
(Accessory dwelling units: incentives), AB 2753 (Density bonuses: density bonus 
application), AB 3194 (Housing Accountability Act: project approval), SB 828 (Land use: 
housing element), SB 35 (Streamline Approval Process), AB 72 (Enforce Housing 
Element Law), AB 1397 (Adequate Housing Element Sites) and SB 166 (No Net Loss).   

  
The housing crisis presents unique challenges to the City of Lawndale.  The City of 
Lawndale is an older urbanized City with limited development opportunities on vacant 
lands.  As discussed in the City’s current Housing Element, the City has been largely built 
out, and previous housing growth has primarily been satisfied through single-family infill 
such as allowing the majority of residential lots in the community to have more than one 
housing unit.  The Housing Element further identifies how housing development in the 
future will likely need to take place as mixed-use development as part of the revitalization 
project along Hawthorne Boulevard and various other infill and underutilized parcels 
throughout the community.  

 
The current Housing Element, which addressed the previous RHNA planning period for 
the fifth cycle, identified how the City had to accommodate a total of 381 residential units 
and how the City only had approximately 19.6 acres of developable land on 29 parcels 



 
 
Resolution No. CC-2110-042 
Appeal of P.C. Case No. 20-17 

7 

with the capacity to yield 425 units.  However, the City’s upcoming regional housing 
needs assessment allocation for the 6th housing cycle for the City is 2,497 housing units. 

  
This severe increase in housing units needed to accommodate basic housing needs, 
combined with the City’s limited opportunities for growth on vacant lands, threatens the 
City’s ability to provide for the housing needs of its growing population, especially where 
the City does have additional capacity of developable land.  The City’s vacant sites do 
not have the capacity to meet the City’s current and upcoming share (i.e. 2,497 housing 
units for the sixth cycle allocation) of the regional housing need and the City must rely 
on recycling of current underutilized properties for residential development.    The 
development of an express carwash on the subject site would preclude the site from 
accommodating any housing to meet the future housing needs of the community and eliminate 
a site identified in the Housing Element’s Site Inventory of a site that is approximately 54,370 
square feet in area and can accommodate up to 41 residential units at a density of 1 unit per 
1,320 square feet, from potential housing development, and exacerbate the existing housing 
crisis within the City.  

 
SECTION 5. That the City Council hereby denies the Project (Case No. 21-25) in its entirety, 

including the Special Use Permit and Development Permit, based on the findings of fact. 
 
 PASSED, APPROVED AND ADOPTED this 4th day of October, 2021. 
 
 
 
      _______________________________ 
       Robert Pullen-Miles, Mayor 
 
  



 
 
Resolution No. CC-2110-042 
Appeal of P.C. Case No. 20-17 

8 

ATTEST: 
 
State of California  ) 
County of Los Angeles ) SS 
City of Lawndale  ) 
 
I, Erica Harbison, City Clerk of the City of Lawndale, California, do hereby certify that the City Council of 
the City of Lawndale duly approved and adopted the foregoing Resolution No. CC-2110-042 at a regular 
meeting of said Council held on the 4th day of October, 2021, by the following roll call vote: 
 

Name Voting Present, Not Voting Absent 
Aye No Abstain Not Participating 

Robert Pullen-Miles, Mayor      
Pat Kearney, Mayor Pro Tem      
Bernadette Suarez      
Rhonda Hofmann Gorman      
Sirley Cuevas      

 
 
_______________________________ 
Erica Harbison City Clerk 
 
       APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
       ______________________________ 
       Gregory M. Murphy, City Attorney 
 





















  
   
 
    

  
 
Notice is hereby given that at 6:30 p.m. on Monday, October 4, 2021, the 
City Council of the City of Lawndale will hold a public hearing in the City of 
Lawndale City Council Conference Room located at 14717 Burin Avenue, 
Lawndale, California, to review the following proposal: 
 
CASE 21-25: PUBLIC HEARING FOR AN APPEAL REQUEST APPEALING THE 
PLANNING COMMISSION’S DECISION TO DENY CASE NO. 20-17 REQUESTING 
APPROVAL OF A SPECIAL USE PERMIT, DEVELOPMENT PERMIT FOR A NEW 
7,779 SQUARE-FOOT EXPRESS CAR WASH FACILITY ON A GC (GENERAL 
COMMERCIAL)  ZONED PROPERTY LOCATED AT 15413-15425 HAWTHORNE 
BOULEVARD 
 
The files for this proposal are available for review Monday through 
Thursday, 7:00 a.m. to 6:00 p.m., in the Community Development 
Department offices located at 14717 Burin Ave., Lawndale, California. 
 
This notice has been sent to you because you own or rent property within 
500 feet of the subject property and you may have an interest in this 
matter.  You are not required to do anything in response to this notice; it is 
for informational purposes only.  It is the intent of this notice to invite you 
and all citizens of Lawndale and the greater public to attend this meeting 
and voice any opinions you may have. 
 
Any grounds for opposing this project must be made at the time of the 
meeting, or made through written correspondence.  If you challenge this 
matter in court you may be limited to raising only those issues you or 
someone else raised in the meeting. 
 
The City of Lawndale’s contact person for this case is Rafael Garcia, 
Associate Planner, Community Development Department, at (310) 973-
3240. 

City of Lawndale 
 
NOTICE OF A PUBLIC HEARING BEFORE 

THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
LAWNDALE FOR FOR AN APPEAL FOR  

CASE NO. 21-25 
ADDRESS: 15413-15425 HAWTHORNE 

BOULEVARD 



 

City of Lawndale 
Community Development Department 

APPLICATION/CASE NO: Case No. 21-25 
APPLICANT: Tim Berger  
SITE ADDRESS: 15413-15425 Hawthorne Boulevard 

Lawndale, CA 90260 

Public Hearing on October 4, 2021 at 6:30 p.m. CASE 21-25; An appeal request 
appealing the Planning Commission’s decision to deny Case No. 20-17 requesting 
approval of a Special Use Permit, Development Permit for a new 7,779 square 
foot express car wash facility on a GC (General Commercial) zoned lot located at 
15413-15425 Hawthorne Boulevard 

City of Lawndale 
14717 Burin Avenue 
Lawndale, CA 90260 

NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING  

Subject Site: 
15413-15425 

Hawthorne Boulevard 



Legal No.  

Daily Breeze
1771 S. Lewis Street
Anaheim, CA 92805
310-543-6635

I am a citizen of the United States and a resident of the 
County aforesaid; I am over the age of eighteen years, and 
not a party to or interested in the above-entitled matter.  I 
am the principal clerk of the printer of THE DAILY 
BREEZE, a newspaper of general circulation, printed and 
published in the City of Torrance*, County of Los Angeles, 
and which newspaper has been adjudged a newspaper of 
general circulation by the Superior Court of County of Los 
Angeles, State of California, under the date of June 10, 
1974, Case Number SWC7146.  The notice, of which the 
annexed is a printed copy (set in type not smaller than 
nonpareil), has been published in each regular and entire 
issue of said newspaper and not in any supplement 
thereof on the following dates, to wit:

09/30/2021

I certify (or declare) under the penalty of perjury that the 
foregoing is true and correct.

Dated at Torrance, California
On this 30th day of September, 2021.

PROOF OF PUBLICATION
(2015.5 C.C.P.)

STATE OF CALIFORNIA
County of Los Angeles

*The Daily Breeze circulation includes the following cities: Carson, Compton, 

Culver City, El Segundo, Gardena, Harbor City, Hawthorne, Hermosa Beach, 

Inglewood, Lawndale, Lomita, Long Beach, Manhattan Beach, Palos Verdes 

Peninsula, Palos Verdes, Rancho Palos Verdes, Rancho Palos Verdes Estates, 

Redondo Beach, San Pedro, Santa Monica, Torrance and Wilmington.

Signature

00114917785007749

CITY OF LAWNDALE/COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DEPT
ACCOUNTS PAYABLE
14717 BURIN AVENUE
LAWNDALE, CA  90260

r.LP6-12/01/15 1



8


	21-10-04 reg.agn
	01. Presentation - Dr. Nellman
	02. Updating RRS, adding series
	03. Warrants
	04. 21-09-20 reg.min
	05. Purchasing Policy Discussion
	06. PRSSC Street Pole Banner
	07. Car Wash Appeal
	(Lawndale) Carwash  Appeal - Resolution  final.pdf
	WHEREAS, an application was filed by Timothy E. Berger (“Applicant”) seeking approval of a Special Use Permit and Development Permit (collectively, “Case No. 20-17”) for the construction and development of a single story 7,779 square foot express carw...
	SECTION 2.  The facts set forth in the Staff Report are true and correct.
	Section 3. Pursuant to the special use permit requirements in LMC §17.28.014, the City Council has analyzed the findings that each must be made before the granting of the special use permit, and finds as follows:



	08. Councilmembers report of attendance

	Back to Agenda: 


